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Preface 
 
Defendant is one of the most flagrant violators of the Telephone Consumer 
Protection Act of 1991 (TCPA). 
 
 



Claims and Damages 
 
This is a complaint for civil penalties for knowing and willful violations of the 
TCPA.  
 
The fax sent by the Defendant contains a minimum of two violations: 

• 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C): unsolicited advertisement faxed w/o explicit 
consent 

• 47 C.F.R. § 68.318(d): fax lacks identification of the fax broadcaster 
 
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) entitles Plaintiff to a minimum statutory remedy of $500 per 
page times the number of violations per page. Since there are 2 violations per 
page, there is $1,000 per page minimum remedy required by the statute. 
However, since Defendant’s actions are knowing or willful, Plaintiff is, at the 
court’s discretion, entitled to treble damages of $3,000 (limited to $2,500 prayed 
for). 
 
 

http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/227.html
http://www.junkfax.org/fax/reference/47cfr64.318.pdf
http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/227.html


Summary of the facts 
 
FAX Received by Plaintiff 
 
Plaintiff received an unsolicited advertisement via fax without Plaintiff’s consent 
in violation of the TCPA (47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C)) on April 11, 2003. [A] 
 
The fax does not identify the fax broadcaster that sent the fax in violation of 47 
C.F.R. § 68.318(d). 
 
The phone line is owned by the Plaintiff. [B] 
 
 
Plaintiff Sent a Demand Letter 
 
A copy of the Plaintiff’s demand letter to the Defendant [C]. Defendant did not 
respond to the demand letter. 
 
 
Defendant Sent the FAX 
 
The FAX was transmitted by fax.com. The opt-out number on the fax is in the list 
of fax.com numbers in Table 2 of the FCC Notice of Apparent Liability for 
Forfeiture [E] and on a list of fax.com phone numbers from junkfax.org website 
[F]. 
 
Defendant Eric Wilson is a founder of fax.com, he is an officer (Chief Technology 
Officer), and he is a major shareholder (23%) according to his deposition in 
Covington & Burling v. Fax.com [H]. Wilson is still employed by fax.com 
according to his complaint filed against Plaintiff on July 7, 2004. [I] 
 
As an officer of a company whose core business is in violation of the TCPA, 
Defendant (Wilson) is liable because he had direct involvement in directing TCPA 
violations. Defendant was found personally liable in the Covington & Burling case 
[G]: “Due to their involvement and supervision of all aspects of the company, Mr. 
Katz and Mr. Wilson are more than mere employees of Fax.Com and are not 
insulated from this court's jurisdiction.” 
 
In its Order of Forfeiture [J], the FCC determined that Defendant is personally 
liable under the TCPA for transmissions by fax.com. 
 
 

http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/227.html
http://www.junkfax.org/fax/reference/47cfr64.318.pdf
http://www.junkfax.org/fax/reference/47cfr64.318.pdf


Willful and Knowing 
 
Defendant’s actions are both knowing and willful as noted in the FCC Order of 
Forfeiture [J]. 
 
From the August 7, 2002 FCC Notice of Apparent Liability and Forfiture [D]: 
“In the instant case, we believe that the maximum forfeiture amount of $11,000 
per violation is warranted for each unsolicited advertisement transmitted by 
Fax.com and documented by the consumer correspondence. It is clear from 
Fax.com’s own promotional materials and its responses to our citations that 
Fax.com’s primary business activity itself constitutes a massive on-going 
violation of section 227(b)(1)(C) of the Act and section 64.1200(a)(3) of the 
Commission’s rules, and that Fax.com is well aware of this fact.” Example 
Fax.com promotional materials are shown in appendix M. 
 
An FCC Letter to Robert Biggerstaff clarifies the phrase “willfully or knowingly” as 
utilized in the TCPA [K]. 
 

Prayer for relief 
 
Plaintiff asks the court to exercise its discretion under (47 CFR § 227(b)(3)) to 
treble the $1000 damages to $2,500 ($3,000 limited to the prayed for $2,500) as 
the Defendant sent this fax willfully or knowingly [K]. 
 
This is calculated as follows: 

• $500 for violation of 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C): unsolicited advertisement 
faxed w/o explicit consent 

• $500 for violation of 47 C.F.R. § 68.318(d): fax lacks identification of the 
fax broadcaster or advertiser 

• $1,500 in treble damages. Although the law allows for the basic $1,000 
minimum remedy to be tripled to up to $3,000 per fax, the Plaintiff asks the 
court for an award of $2,500 plus costs. 

 
 

http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/227.html
http://www.junkfax.org/fax/reference/47cfr64.318.pdf


Additional arguments 
The fax contains at least two violations of federal law 
 
Schraut v. Rocky Mountain Reclamation (2001 TCPA Rep. 1182 (Mo. Cir. Dec. 
18, 2001) and other cases make it clear that a fax can contain more than one 
violation. 
 
The reasoning is simple: if there were only one actionable violation per fax, then 
there would be absolutely no incentive whatsoever for a junk faxer to comply with 
any of the header/identification regulations. That would make tracking the source 
of the fax nearly impossible for most people and allow junk faxers to fax with 
impunity. That was clearly not the intent of Congress. 
 
The fax sent by the Defendant contains a minimum of two violations: 

• 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C): unsolicited advertisement faxed w/o explicit 
consent 

• 47 C.F.R. § 68.318(d): fax lacks identification of the fax broadcaster 
 
The whole point of the FCC rule was to provide identification to the recipient of 
the company sending the fax so that the recipient could sue the sender to 
enforce the law. That’s why 47 C.F.R. § 68.318(d) explicitly calls this out: 
“that broadcaster’s name, under which it is registered to conduct business with 
the State Corporation Commission (or comparable regulatory authority), must be 
identified on the facsimile, along with the sender’s name” 

There is no viable defense 
 
Fax.com has spent the last 4 years coming up with innovative defenses. They 
have all failed. 
 
www.tcpalaw.com contains hundreds of junk fax cases. All the arguments used 
by junk faxers (the law is unconstitutional, individual actions are not permitted, 
etc., etc.) have all eventually been overturned by higher courts. There is no 
viable defense left. 
 
Access to www.tcpalaw.com is free for judges. 
 

http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/227.html
http://www.junkfax.org/fax/reference/47cfr64.318.pdf
http://www.junkfax.org/fax/reference/47cfr64.318.pdf


Treble damages are warranted 
Defendants are professional thieves. Their whole business is illegal and they’ve 
known it was illegal since 2000. 
 
They are the largest fax spammer in the world. They send over 1 billion illegal 
faxes a year to over 8M fax machines in the US alone; that’s over 100 unsolicited 
faxes per machine per year. 
 
Here’s what the FCC wrote [about their responses to the FCC’s investigation]: 

Moreover, the Commission found that Fax.com appears to have engaged 
in a pattern of deception to conceal its involvement in sending the 
prohibited faxes, and that the company has not been forthcoming in its 
dealings with the agency.  

In view of the ``pervasive and egregious pattern of deception'' underlying 
the apparent violations and the gravity of Fax.com's conduct, the 
Commission concluded that Fax.com is apparently liable for the maximum 
fine of $11,000 for each of the 489 fax violations, for a total proposed fine 
of $5,379,000. 

Fax.com Information 

Further information about fax.com from Steve Kirsch, the leading expert in 
fax.com’s operation and the Named Plaintiff in a $2.2 T class action suit against 
them: 
 

• Numerous citations from the FCC since December 26, 2000 have been 
completely ignored. They keep violating the law, not paying any 
judgments, and write off their legal fees as a cost of doing business. 

• Katz stated in his deposition fax.com would cease operations if the 
Supreme Court denied cert. They did, settling the constitutionality issue for 
good, but Katz didn’t keep his word. On the contrary, he ramped up 
operations. 

• They never pay any judgments including the FCC and Covington and 
Burling cases and various small judgments 

• They do not comply with legal process including court orders and 
document requests from the California Attorney General 

• Their CEO lies under oath in his deposition; he can’t seem to recall much 
of anything including where he works 

• A $5.379M fine by the FCC has been ignored 
• Offers that they send out by fax are sometimes from fraudulent 

businesses or are illegal pump and dump faxes where they can make 
$1.2M or more from a single illegal pump and dump fax campaign. 



• They use deceptive trade practices such as not identifying themselves and 
changing the font and wording and phone numbers to make it appear that 
the faxes come from different companies and even register with their 
suppliers using non-existing names 

• Covington & Burling case shows that even after threats of litigation from a 
top law firm, they ignore that notification and keep faxing 

• Their chief compliance officer, Charles Martin, is a liar. He’s lies in court 
and fabricates evidence. Because of that, he just had his Private 
Investigator license revoked 

o “In his April 23, 2004 decision, Judge Rosenman found that Martin 
lied under oath or manufactured evidence in a dozen cases brought 
against Fax.com by other businesses.” The Judge wrote, “...his 
performance of those acts included dishonesty, fraud and deceit.” 

• They submit fraudulent information when establishing phone service or 
answering the phone so that they can’t be traced, using names such as 
Richard Charles, Eddie Rass, Linkpoint Marketing, Consumer Source, 
none of which actually exist. 

 
 
 



 Rebuttals to Possible Defense Arguments 
 
Corporate Shield 
 
Personal Liability of Officers, Agents, and Employees 
 
“In construing and enforcing the provisions of this Act, the act, omission, or 
failure of any officer, agent, or other person acting for or employed by any 
common carrier or user, acting within the scope of his employment, shall in every 
case be also deemed to be the act, omission, or failure of such carrier or user as 
well as that of the person.'' 47 U.S.C. § 217 (US Communications Act of 1934) 
 
Directors and officers are liable for their personal involvement in corporate torts, 
and violations of the TCPA are statutory torts. Mr. Wilson is the President of 4166 
Holdings, Inc.  Also, violations of the TCPA justify imposing personal liability.  
See, Covington & Burling v. Int'l Mktng. & Research, Inc., 2003 WL 21384825 
(D.C. Super. Apr. 16, 2003) 
 
Jurisdiction 
 
This action seeks damages under the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 
1991, 47 U.S.C. § 227 and the California Civil Code.  Jurisdiction under 47 
U.S.C. § 227 is exclusive and proper in state court under 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3).  
“We join the Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Eleventh Circuits in `the somewhat 
unusual conclusion that state courts have exclusive jurisdiction over a cause of 
action created by' a federal statute, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 
1991." Murphey v. Lanier, 204 F.3d 911, 914 (9th Cir. 2000). 
 



Venue 
 
The causes of action, or some part thereof, arose in Santa Clara County.  Santa 
Clara County, and this court specifically, is the proper venue for this action 
according to California Code of Civil Procedure §393(1)(a), which states: 
 
393.  (1) Subject to the power of the court to transfer actions and proceedings as 
provided in this title, the county in which the cause, or some part thereof, arose, 
is the proper county for the trial of the following actions: 
   (a) For the recovery of a penalty or forfeiture imposed by statute; except, that 
when it is imposed for an offense committed on a lake, river, or other stream of 
water, situated in two or more counties, the action may be tried in any county 
bordering on the lake, river, or stream, and opposite to the place where the 
offense was committed; 
 
Line Ownership 
 
A copy of a phone bill is shown in Appendix E which establishes Plaintiff’s 
ownership of the phone line. 
 
Affirmative Defense 
 
I have no existing business relationship with the defendant. The defendant has 
the burden of proof regarding the affirmative defense of "prior express invitation 
or permission." 
 
Call Removal Number Included On Fax 
 
The recipient of an unsolicited fax has no obligation to call the “removal” number 
shown on the fax to prevent subsequent fax transmissions. 



Independent Contractor 
 
Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Pena, 44 F.3d 437, 441-42 (7th Cir.  
1994), aff'd 516 U.S. 152 (1996). 
The FCC obviously construes "use" to include both direct use, and indirect use 
by way of an agent:  "We clarify that the entity or entities on whose behalf 
facsimiles are transmitted are ultimately liable for compliance with the rule 
banning unsolicited facsimile advertisements."  In the Matter of the Telephone 
Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 10 FCC Rcd 12391 (1995) at ¶  
35.   This is wholly reasonable, since if liability could be avoided by using such an 
intermediary, advertisers could use a series of fly-by-night fax advertising firms to 
send waves of unsolicited faxes, and be insulated from liability.  Such a 
construction would clearly allow avoidance of the statute, and such a 
construction is to be avoided.  A remedial statute "should be liberally construed 
and interpreted (when that is possible) in a manner tending to discourage 
attempted evasions by wrongdoers." 
 
First Amendment Right 
 
The March 13, 2002 decision in “Missouri v. American Blast Fax” was reversed 
on appeal to the Eighth Circuit. The following is the final paragraph of that 
decision. 
 
We conclude that 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C) satisfies the constitutional test for 
regulation of commercial speech and thus withstands First Amendment scrutiny. 
There is a substantial governmental interest in protecting the public from the cost 
shifting and interference caused by unwanted fax advertisements, and the means 
chosen by Congress to address these harms directly and materially advances 
the governmental interest. The statute is also narrowly tailored to create a 
reasonable fit with its objective. Accordingly, we reverse the judgment dismissing 
the claims asserted under § 227(b)(1)(C) and remand the case to the district 
court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion. A true copy. 
Attest: CLERK, U.S. COURT OF APPEALS, EIGHTH CIRCUIT 
 
Informational 
 
The phrase ``unsolicited advertisement'' is defined in the TCPA and the 
Commission's rules as ``any material advertising the commercial availability or 
quality of any property, goods, or services which is transmitted to any person 
without that person's prior express invitation or permission.'' 47 U.S.C. § 
227(a)(4); 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200(f)(5). 
 



History of the Telephone Consumer's Protection Act 
 
In 1991 President Bush signed into law the Telephone Consumer Protection Act 
of 1991 (TCPA), Public Law 102-243 (1991), which amended Title II of the 
Communications Act of 1934, 47 U.S.C. Section 201 et seq., by adding a new 
section, 47 USC Section 227. The U.S. Congress enacted it to reduce the 
nuisance and invasion of privacy caused by telemarketing and prerecorded calls. 
Congress ordered the FCC to make and clarify certain regulations some of which 
are given below (47 CFR 64.1200).  
 
The FCC's summary of the TCPA  
 
The TCPA imposes restrictions on the use of automatic telephone dialing 
systems, of artificial or prerecorded voice messages, and of telephone facsimile 
machines to send unsolicited advertisements. Specifically, the TCPA prohibits 
autodialed and prerecorded voice message calls to emergency lines, health care 
facilities or similar establishments, and numbers assigned to radio common 
carrier services or any service for which the called party is charged for the call, 
unless the call is made with the prior express consent of the called party or is 
made for emergency purposes. The TCPA also prohibits artificial or prerecorded 
voice message calls to residences made without prior express consent, unless it 
is an emergency call or specifically exempted by the Commission. Unsolicited 
advertisements may not be transmitted by telephone facsimile machines. Those 
using telephone facsimile machines or transmitting artificial or prerecorded voice 
messages are subject to certain identification requirements. Finally, the TCPA 
requires that the Commission consider several methods to accommodate 
telephone subscribers who do not wish to receive unsolicited advertisements, 
including live voice solicitations. The statute also outlines various remedies for 
violations of the TCPA.  
 
 



The Law 
 
47 USC 153 (32)   
The term ''person'' includes an individual, partnership, association, joint-stock 
company, trust, or corporation. 

47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(2)  
The term ''telephone facsimile machine'' means equipment which has the 
capacity 
(A) to transcribe text or images, or both, from paper into an electronic 
signal and to transmit that signal over a regular telephone line, or 

(B) to transcribe text or images (or both) from an electronic signal received 
over a regular telephone line onto paper. 

47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(4)  
The term ''unsolicited advertisement'' means any material advertising the 
commercial availability or quality of any property, goods, or services which 
is transmitted to any person without that person's prior express invitation 
or permission. 

47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C)  
It shall be unlawful for any person within the United States to use any 
telephone facsimile machine, computer, or other device to send an 
unsolicited advertisement to a telephone facsimile machine; 

47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) 
A person or entity may, if otherwise permitted by the laws or rules of court 
of a State, bring in an appropriate court of that State - 
(A) an action based on a violation of this subsection or the regulations 
prescribed under this subsection to enjoin such violation, 
(B) an action to recover for actual monetary loss from such a violation, or 
to receive $500 in damages for each such violation, whichever is greater, 
or 
(C) both such actions. 

If the court finds that the defendant willfully or knowingly violated this 
subsection or the regulations prescribed under this subsection, the court 
may, in its discretion, increase the amount of the award to an amount 
equal to not more than 3 times the amount available under subparagraph 
(B) of this paragraph. 

The regulations prescribed under 47 U.S.C. § 227(b) which were referred to in 47 
U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) include: 

http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/153.html
http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/47/227.html
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47 C.F.R. § 68.318(d) 
Telephone facsimile machines; Identification of the sender of the 
message. It shall be unlawful for any person within the United 
States to use a computer or other electronic device to send any 
message via a telephone facsimile machine unless such person 
clearly marks, in a margin at the top or bottom of each transmitted 
page of the message or on the first page of the transmission, the 
date and time it is sent and an identification of the business, other 
entity, or individual sending the message and the telephone 
number of the sending machine or of such business, other entity, or 
individual. If a facsimile broadcaster demonstrates a high degree of 
involvement in the sender’s facsimile messages, such as supplying 
the numbers to which a message is sent, that broadcaster’s name, 
under which it is registered to conduct business with the State 
Corporation Commission (or comparable regulatory authority), must 
be identified on the facsimile, along with the sender’s name. 
Telephone facsimile machines manufactured on and after 
December 20, 1992, must clearly mark such identifying information 
on each transmitted page. 

47 CFR 64.1200(a)(3)(ii) 
A facsimile broadcaster will be liable for violations of paragraph (a)(3) of 
this section if it demonstrates a high degree of involvement in, or actual 
notice of, the unlawful activity and fails to take steps to prevent such 
facsimile transmissions.  

47 CFR 64.1200(f)(4) 
The term facsimile broadcaster means a person or entity that transmits 
messages to telephone facsimile machines on behalf of another person or 
entity for a fee. 

 
Copies of the Law and Rules 
 
The original legislation that Congress passed as Public Law 102-243, (47 USC § 
227) is known as the "Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991" (TCPA) [N] 
 
Congress mandated that the FCC come up with rules and regulations to limit the 
industry. The regulations the FCC came up with are (47 CFR § 64.1200) [O]. 
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